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‘Sheikhzada of Damaseus, Qobeid the poet, and some
other bompemwns of the Prince Aluf Khan, circu-
lated a report, that the Emperor was dead, and that
a revolution had taken place at Dehly.  Not content
with this, they went to the tents of ‘Mullik Kafoor,
seal-keeper, and Mullik ‘Tuggeen, twol of the prin-

cipal officers in carmp, and: told them the state of
affairs at Dehly. \ They also said that the Prince
Aluf Khan, suspecting that they would d;spnte hig
rlght to the throne, had resolved toent them off.

The officers, deceived by this false information,
i loft the camp that night with all theit
A, 722 . g dherents. | The _Pl‘lnce Aluf Khan thus
A D, 1822, _ g

 deserted, was under the necessity of

raising the siege, and retreating in haste and dis-
order towards Dewgur, whither he was parsued
by the enemy with great slaughter. . On his arrival
there, letters of a late date being received from
Dehly, exposed the falsehood of these TUmours,

- on which the Prince halted, and’ collected his
scattered army. The officers who had fled, dis-
agreeing, took separate 'routes; they were ‘at-
tacked by the infidels, plundered of their ele-
phants, camels, and baggage, and otherwise greatly
harassed in their macch, Two of them, Mullik
Teimoor, and Mullik. Tuggeen, both fell vie
tims.  The former died; in a prison of ong
of the Hindoo Rajas; and the other was cut off
by the Marattas ; while Mullik Gool Afghan, and
Mullik Kafoor, were seized by their own troops,
and brought back to Dewgur. An enquiry was
instituted into their conduct; the authors of the

- false reports were discovered, seized, and sent
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I&mg oudtred them 0 be. buued .ilw'er, the
severe remark, ¢ that as they had i)uned him
ftalive in jest, be would bury them alive in
« earnest,”?

. The 'Prince Aluf Khan, a{'tcr his Iutreat from. \
Dewgur, brought back to Dehly only three thousand
horse, of all his great army. In two months, how-
ever, he recruited his troops, and again marched to -
Wurungole. Qn his way thither, he besieged and

~ took the town of Bedur, belonging to the Raja of
Waurangole, on the froutiers of Tulingana, and some
other places, wherein he lett garmons He then
advanced to the capital, and renewing the siege
of Wurungole, reduced it to sur{ender. Some
thousands of Hindoos were put to death, and
Luddur Dew, with his family, were taken pi'isone.rs.
Aluf Khan sent them, together with their treasures,
elephants, and private property, to Dehly, under
charge of Kuddur Khan, and Khwaja Hajy, the
latter of whom had been second in command undex
Mullik 'Naib  Kafoor,  Upon their reaching the
capital, great rejoicings were made in the new
citadel at Dehly, which the King had just finished,
and to which he gave the name of Toghiukabad.
The Prince Aluf Khan appointed officers to govern
the country of Tulingana, and caused Wurungole
to be called Sooltanpoor*; after which hie proceeded
in person towards Jajnuggur.  On this occasion,
he'took forty elephants from the Raja, and sent

L® Wurungole 500N loat this Mahomedan utle and to this day
bears its ancient Hindoo name,

Do g



s o ! L
-\ @/ GHEIAS-00D-DEEN TOGHLUK. ; I

“fhem to his father. Returning to Wurungole, he
stayed there a few days, and marched back’ to
Dehly. ' | : Rt A R

i In the beginning of the year 724,
i l’ézé'é'_ complaints arrived from Luknowty and
" Soonargam, of the oppressions com-
mitted by the governors of that province, and
Gheias-ood-Deen Toghluk, after having appointed
his son Aluf Khan to the government of Dehly,
marched in person towards Bengal. When he
reached Nahib*, Nasir-ood-Deen, Kurra Khan,
the son of Cheias-ood-Deen Bulbun, and father of
; Kei Koobad, who had remained in that
government since the death of his father,
came from Luknowty to pay his respects,
bringing with him many valuable presents. = He
was confirmed in his government of Bengal, and
permitted to assume the ensigns of royalty ; after
which, Gheias-ood-Deen Toghluk prepared for his
return. At this time, also, Tartar Khan, the King’s
adopted son, was nominated to the government of'

Soonargam, and directed to reduce to subjection

Bahadur Shah, an officer of the reign of' Alla-ood-

Deen Khiljy. Bahddur Shah was defeated, and

fled ; but Tartar Khan sueceeded in seizing him,

and sent him to the King. In the Futtooh-oos-

Sulateent, it is related, that as the King was passing

Al M. 725,
Al Dy 1595,

# This name is indistinet in all my MB8S, and is probably
incorrect, .

+ The Futtooh-oos-Sulateen, or the victories of kings, is, I
understand, a compilation of little authority, and may be
ranked with the Jama-ool-Hikayat, or other collections of his-
torical romances. '
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near the hills of Tirhoot, the Raja appeared in:
arms, but was pursued into the woods. Fiuding
his army could not penetrate them,  the King
alighted from his horse; called for a hatchet, and
cut down one of the trees with his own hand.
- The troops, on seeing this, applied themselves to
work with such spirit, that the forest seemed &
vanish before them. They arrived at length at a
fort, surrounded by seven ditches full of water,
and a high wall. . The King invested the place,
filled up the ditches, and destroyed the wall in three
weeks.  The Raja and his family were taken, and
great booty obtained, while the government of Tir.
hoot was left in the bands of Ahmud Khan, the son
of Mullik Tu-hljgha, after which the King returned
towards Dehly,  Oun reaching Afghanpoor, he was
met by his son Aluf Khan, with all the nobles of
the court, who came to congratulate him on his
safe return, . At this spot Aluf Khan had raised &
temporary wooden building, in three days’ time, for
his father’s reception. When the entertainment
was over, the King ordered his equipage to pro-
ceed : every body hastened out, and stood ready to
accompany him, when the roof of the building sud-
denly fell, and the King and five of his attendants
weze crushed in the ruins.
Some authors have attributed this accident tothe
nature of the building, and think it might have
been pushed down by the crowd of elephants
that were without. Others refer it to design, of
which they accuse the Prince Aluf Khan as the
contriver, because, say they, the construction of
such 2 building in a camp was quite unnecessary ;
DD 4%
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and Zeea Burny, a contc mporaty of Feroze Togh-
luk, between whom and Aluf Khan, afterwards
Mahomed Toghluk, the greatest intimacy subsisted,
has negleeted to mention the story in his history.
But it will occur to all unprejudiced persons,
that these accusations are far from probable, TFor
it must be recollected that the Prince himself had
been for some time with his father in the building,
during the entertainment: how, then, was he to
effect, as if by a miracle, that the house should fall
on the very moment he left it? But the most
entertaining surmise is that recorded by Sudr
Jehan ' Guzeratty, who asserts, that the Prince
Aluf Khan raised the palace by magie, and the
instant the magical art which upheld it was with-
drawn, it fell. Hajy Mahomed Kandahary says,
that it was struck by Iighming, and | this does
not seem at all lmprobable. But God only knows
the real truth.

- The death of Gheias.ood-Deen Togh]uk hap
pened in the month of Rubbee.ool-Awul, of the
Rubbee-col-Awal, YEAT 720, after a reign of four

L AVHLTES, years and some months.  The

February,  poet, Ameer Khoosrow of Dehly,

ok who lived to the end of this
King’s reign, and received a pension of 1000
tunkas monthly, wrote the history of this Prince, '
under the titie of the Toghluk Namaj; but the work
is very scarce. )
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T'he Prince, Aliyf Khany ascends the throne, and assumes the title
\of Makomed. == Invasion of the Choghiay Tartars, under
. Zoormooshreen. Khan, — Expeditions from Dehly into the
Deccan, — Disaffection throughout the lingdom. — The army
mutinies. — Bapedients to recruit the King's finances — they
\Jtil. —~ The King sends an \army to invade Ching —its total
destruction. — Insurrection in the. Deccan by the King's

| nephew — he. is delivered up by the Raja, Bilal Dew, and
 suffers a eruel death. — The King makes Dewgnr kis capital,
" and causes it to be called Dowlutabad. — Compels the inka-
bitants of Dehly to vceupy Dowlutabad. — Insurrection in
Maaltan. — Dehly repeopled. — Invasion of Punjab by the
Afghans, = Eamine in Dehly. — The Guikurs overrun Pun-

. jab.— Revolt in Sumblul, — Confederacy of the Hindoos in
the Deccan.~ Revolt of the King's troops in the Deccan. —
Revolt in Malwa. — Revolt i Guzerat, — Deatk of the King

| from a supfeit of fish.

()~ the third day after the King’s funeral, his
eldest son Aluf Khan ascended the throne, by the
title of Mahomed Toghluk, and proceeded from
‘Toghlukabad to Dehly. On this occasion, the
streets of the city were strewed with flowers; the
houses ac_l.dm_ed; drums beaten ; and every demon-
stration of joy was exhibited. The new monarch
ordered some elepbants laden with gold and
silver to precede and follow the procession, from
which money was scattered among the populace.
Tartar Khan, whom the late Gheias-ood-deen

L
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Toghluk had adopted as his son, and appointed

to the government of Soonargam, was honoured
with the title'of Beiram Khan, and received a

hundred elephants, a crore of  golden tunkas

(166,6664 8s. 6d.), two thousand horses, and was

appointed to the government of Bengal, To Mullik

Sunjur Budukhshy were also given seventy lacks

(116,6664 45, 4d.); to Mullik-ool-Moolk Imad-.
ood-Deen, eighty lacks (183,833/. 0s. 8d.; and

to Mowlana Azd.ood-deen, the King’s preceptor,

forty lacks (66,6661 s, 4d.); all on one
A.1:725,  day, ‘Mowlana Nasir-ood-Deen Koomy
A.D. 1525, ! e
had an annual pension of one lack ; and

Mullik Ghazy, the poet, had also a pension to

the same amount, Nizam-ood-deen Abmud Bukh-

shy, surprised at the vast sums stated by histo-

rians as having been lavished by this Prince, took

the trouble to ascertain, from authentic records,

that these tunkas were of the silver currency of
the day, in which was amalgamated a great deal of
alloy, so that each tunka only exchanged for 16

copper pice. *  In the early part of his reign, the

King’s liberality attracted to Dehly some of the

most learned men of Asia, who returned to their

countries laden with honours and with gifts. He

established hospitals for the sick, and almshouses

for widows and orphans, on the most liberal scale.

He was the most eloquent and accomplished prince

of his time; and- his letters, both in .Arabic and

Persian, display so much elegance, good taste, and

* Making a tunka worth only about 4., instead of 4s., and
the whole amount equal to 539,881/,
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good sense, that the most able secretarics of later
times study them with admiration, He was fond
of history, and had so retentive a memory, that he
recollected almost every event he read of, and the
time it occurred. He was skilled, also, in the
seiences of physie, logic, astronomy, and ma.
thematics ; and he had the talent of discovering
the character of persons from a very slight ac.
quaintance.  Ile even went so far as to attend
himself on patients afilicted with any remarkable
disease. He studied the philosophy of the Greek
schools, and after his accession to the throne he
maintained disputes with Assud Muntuky, the me-
taphysician ;- Oobeid the poet ; Nujm-ood-deen
Intishar ; and Mowlana Ein-ood-deen Shirazy, be-
sides other learned men. He, however, took ng
delight in works of fiction written for amusement,
such as tales or romances, nor did he encourage
buffoons or actors. He wrote some good Persian
poetry himseif, and was the patron of literary men in
general. He was notless famous for his gallantry
in the field than for those accomplishments which
render a man the ornament of private society. His
constant desire of extending his territory accounts
for his having passed the greater part of his life in
the camp. He is represented by contemporaries
as one of the wonders of the age in which he lived,
from his possessing, in so eminent a degrec, qualities
‘and accomplishments so opposite. 'He even wished
to unite in his own person the duties of a mon.
arch with those of a high priest. He was always
regular at his own daily prayers, and punished
those persons who neglected theirs, He abstained
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from fornication, ;}Ji;‘hnkenness, ‘and! other vices
forpidden 1n the ‘holy, book. But with all these
admirable qualities, he was wholly devoid of merey |
or of consideration for bis people, 'The punish-.
wents he inflicted were not. only rigid, and cruel,
but frequently unjust. So little did he hesitate to
spill the blood of God’s creatures, that when any
thing occurred which excited him to proceed to
that horrid extremity, one might have supposed
his object was to exterminate the human species
altogether. No single week passed without his
having put to death one or more of the learned
and holy men who surrounded him, or some of
the secretaries who attended him. = On his nobles
and relatives, however, he conferred great honours
and distinctions, and the following were among
those who were mostfavoured : Mullik Feroze, his
cousin, was appointed Naib of the Barbik, or deputy
grand, usher; Mullik Bedar Khiljy was graced
with the title of Kuddur Khan, and was made go-
vernor of Luknowty on the death of Nasir-ood-
Deen Khiljy.  Kootloogh Khan was made Vakeel-
i.Dur; Mullik Mukbool was created Imam-ool-
Moolk, and was nominated Vizier-ool- Momalik.
Ahmud Ayaz received the title of Khwaja Jehan,
and the government of Guzerat§ Mullik Mokbil
was created Khan Jehan, and appointed vizier of
Guzerat, Mahomed, the son of Kootloogh Khan,
also received an estate for bis support in Guzerat ;
and Mullik Shahab-ood-Deen was created Mullik-
oot-Toojar (chief of the merchants), and received
the estate of Nowsary for his maintenance. - In
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the year 727, in' the begmnmg ‘of  the
A B 27
&’n {997, reign of Mahomed Toghluk, before the
government was settled, To ormooshrcen

Khan, a . chief of the tribe of Choghtay, and a Mo-

gul general of great fame, invaded Hindoostan with
a vast army, in order to make an entire conquest of
it. " He subdued Lumghan, Mooltan, and the
northern provinces, and advanced rapidly towards
Dehly.  Mahomed Toghluk, seeing he coutld not
cope with the enemy in the ficld, and that the city
must soon fall, sued for peace. He sent valuable
presents in gold and jewels, to soften the Mogul
chief; who at last consented, on receiving almost the
priceof the kingdom, to withdraw to his own country,
retreating through Guzerat and Sind on his returm ;
both of which territories he plundered, and camed
off many of the inhabitants. Zéea-ood-Deen Burny,
who flourished under this reign, has omitted to
make mention of this eventful irtuption for fear of
giving offence to his successor. Mahomed Loghluk,

however, turned his thoughts to conquest within
India; and he so completely subjected the distant
provinces of Dwar-Sumoodra, Maabir, Kumpila,
Wurungole, ' Luknowty, Chutgaun (Chitagong),
and Soonargdm ; that they were as effectually
incorporated with  the empire as the villages
in the vicinity of Dehly. Ie also subdued the
whole of the Carnatic, both in length and breadth,

even to the shore of the sea of Ooman.* But
in the convulsions which soon after shook the

* Indian ocean, lying between Arabia and the Todian penin-
sula.
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empire, all thea‘(, couquestsww:th the exceptxon of
Cxuzuat, were. wrested from thim, and continued

'-hm ‘auses of the dlstmbances were
clueﬂy these the heavy taxes which in this reign
were xmposed ‘on theé inhabitants of the @&mab
and other provinees ; the passing of copper money
for sxlvev; by public decree ; the reusmg\ of' 870,000
horse fer the conquest of Khorassan and Mawur-
00l- Nehr the sending of 100,000 horse towards
the mountains between India and China; the cruel
massacre of many Mahomedans, as well as Hindoos,
in different parts of India; and many other lesser
reasons, which, for the sake of brwlty. we forbear
to mention,

The duties levied on the necess.argea of 111"(.
realised with the utmost rigour, were too great for
the power of industry to cope with : the country,
in consequence, became involved in poverty and
distress.  The farmers fled to the woods, and
maintained themselves by rapine; the lands were
left uncultivated ; famine desolated whole  pro-
vinces, and the sufferings of the people oblite-
rated from their minds every idea of subjection.
The copper money, for want of proper regu-
latioris, was productive of evils ‘equal to those
already specified. The King, unfortunately for
his people, adopted his ideas upon currency from
a Chinese custom of using paper on the Im-
peror’s credit, with the royal seal appended, in lieu
of ready money. Mahomed Toghluk, instead of
stamped paper, struck a copper coin, which he
issued at an imaginary value, and caused it to pass
current by a decree throughout Hindoostan.  The

.
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mint was under bad regulations. Bankers acquired
large fortunes by coinage. Foreign merchants
made their payments in copper o the hotne manu-
facturers, though they themselves received for the
articles they sold silver and gold in foreign mar
kets. . There was so much corraption practised
in the mint, that for a premium to those . persons
who had the management of it, merchants had
their coin struck considerably below: the legal
valuey and these abuses were connived at by the
government. The great calamity, however, conse-
quent upon this debasement of the coin arose from
the known instability of the government, Public
credit could not long subsist in a state so liable to

revolutions as Hindoostan ; for how could
i;; ;’gb' 'th(-e people in the remote provinces res
_ ceive for money, the base representative
of a treasury that so often changed its master?
Trom these evils the discontent became uani.
versal, and the King was at length obliged to call
in the copper currency. Such abuses had occurred
in the mint, however, that, after the treasury was
'em'ptied,_ there still remained a heavy demand.
This debt the King struck off, and thousands were
ruined. ‘The state, so far from gaining by this
erude scheme, had exhausted its treasury ; and the
bankers, and some merchants, alone accumulated
fortunes at the expence of their sovereign and the
people. Mahomed Toghluk, at the representation
of Ameer Nowroze Beg, a Mogul chief, who, with
thousands of his tribe, had entered into the service,
buoyed himself up with hopes of the facility of re-
ducing both Persia and Tartary. = But, before
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the«se pwgectq coeul@ be pm i exeeutmn? the
troops were ‘&l in arrears. Thgae, ﬁndmg"‘they
could ‘not, slipaisu WJ‘,ﬂlOUt pay, diéﬁﬂrsed and
carried paﬂag_t_a rain, and’ &mth\ft g\rery quarter
Such are’ %ihe'“%ﬁ‘lq\mlﬂes compl'é'l*iendmgfr the, do-
mestic tram*xctzéﬁs%f many ycars#ﬁ The public:
treasury Lt. s exhagst;ed by his Ea%gr impolitic
schemeyithe King resolved to repair his quses by_.
-puttingin execution a pro_}ect equally absurd.
Having beard of the great wealth of
Mahomed [oghluk conceived the idea’
duing that empire; but, in order to accompl:sh
his design, it was found necessary firgt to conquer
the country of Hemachul*, wluch hes batwu,n the
borders of China and India. Accort}mg]}, in the
year 738, he ordered 100,000 hmsg,
‘: I; 71%831‘.,. under the command of his gister’s son,
Khoosrow Mullik, to subdue this moun-
fainous region, and to establish garrisons as far as the
frontiers of China.  When this should be effected,
he proposed to advance in person with his whole
army to invade that empire. ‘The nobles . and
counsellors of state dn vain assured him, that
the troops of India never yet conld, and vever
would advance a step within the limits of China,
and that the whole schemﬁ was visionary. The
King insisted on making” the experiment, and
the army was accordingly put in motion, Having:
entered the mountains, simall forts were built on the

_* Nepal, and the countries on both sides of the Hlmmala_va
mountains.
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2 i: 33 }moceedwg‘ in"this 'man

..... seachecf th;e“Chmgae aftnglar;
numerons a ppeared o omiose'?'_
numbers of ¢ I'mhm‘\tq were “'h t;%_

1 th% ﬁro&ps

creased, when they considered" their dﬂ'rm;,i from
hamc, the rugged cuuntry they had pas

of the rainy season, and the searcity
s, which now began to be severely felt.

Wlth these f'eelmgs, they commenced their retreat

towards the s oot of the range of hills, where the
, rushing down upon thei, plundered
e, and the Chinese army also followed
them closely. In this distressing situation the In-

dian army remained for seven days, suffering the ex-

treme of famine. At length, the rain began to fall
in torrents 3 the cavalry were up to the bellies of
their horses in water. = The waters obliged the
Chinaese to remove their camp to a greater distance,
and gave to Khoosrow Mullik some hopes of effect-

ing his retreat ; but he found the low country com- -

pletely 1nundated, and the mountains covered with
impervious woods. I'ht, misfortunes of the army
seemed to be at a crisis; ' no passage remained to
them for retreat, but that by which they entered the
hills, which was occupied by the mountaineers ; so
that in the short space of fifteen days the Indian
army fell a prey to famine, and became the victims
of the King’s ambition. Scarcely a man returned

to relate the partxcuhrq, excepting those ‘who were .

left behind in the garrisons; and the few of those
VOL. 1. E B

0 road, ten sed’qre a epmr#unwaum, aml-‘_-.

i -'e‘(graatlv-__'
diminished, an'&wbemg mtch in to the eveny, :
they were %t&yé"iidwﬂl dlsmay, wluch was only in-"

t, the: -
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troops who evaded the enemy did not escape the
more fatal vengeance of their King, who ordered
them to be put to death on their returnto Dehbly,
Baba-cod-Deen, the King’s nephew, a nobleman
of high reputation, known more generally by his
original - name of Koorshasip, possessed a go-
vernment in the Deccan called Sagur.® He began
to turn his thoughts towards the throne, and gained
over many of the nobles of his principality to his
interest. Through the influence of these chiefs,
and by the great riches he had acquired, the power
of Koorshasip beeame so formidable, that he at-
tacked some chiefs, who continued firm in their
allegiance to the King, and obliged them to
take refuge in the fort of Mande, The King
having intelligence of this revolt, commanded
Khwaja Jeban, with many other officers, and
the whole of the Guzerat forces, to chastise
the rebel chief. When the King’s army arrived
a.n.789. before Degwur, they found the troops of
A, 1338, Koorshasip drawn up in order of battle
to receive them.  After a gallant contest, the rebel
chieftain was defeated, owing to the defection of
Khizr Bahram, one of his principal officers, who,
with his whole division, went over to the royal
army during the engagement. Koorshasip fled to
Sagur; but not daring to remain there, he carried
off his family and wealth to Kumpilat, in the
Carnatic, and took refuge in the dominions of the

* This must be Sagur, near Koolburga.
4 I believe there is a place of this name on the Toongbudra,

near Beejanuggur.
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raja of that place, with whom' he had maintaived a
friendly intercourse. i A
. Mahomed Foghluk, in the mean time, took the
(field, and ‘arriving soon ‘after at Dewgur, sent
from thence Khwaja Jehan with a force against
Koorshagip; and the Raja of Kumpila. = The
\ royalists were twice defeated; but fresh rein-
forcements arriving from Dewgur, Khwaja Jehan
engaged the Raja a third time, and gained a vic-
tory, in which the Raja of Kumpila was made
prisoner, but Koorshasip fled to the court of Bilal
Dew *, who, fearing to draw the same misfortunes
upon himself as the neighbouring raja had done,
seized Koorshasip, and sent him bound to Kwaja
Jehan, and at the same time acknowledged the su-
premacy of the King of Dehly., Khwaja Jehan
immediately despatched the prisoner to court,
when he was ordered to be flayed, and shown a
horrid spectacle, all around the city, while the ex-
ecutioner proclaimed aloud, ¢ Thus shall all traitors

% to their king perish.”? '
The King was so much pleased with the siti-
ation and strength of Dewgur, and considered it so
much more . centrical than Dehly, that he de-
termined to make it his capital. On proposing
this subject to his ministers, the majority were of
opinion, that Oojein was a more proper place for
that purpose. The King, however, had previously
formed his resolution ; he, therefore, gave orders,
that the city of Dehly, then the envy of the world,
should be evacuated, and that men, women, and

* Raja of Dwar Sumoodra,
ER 2
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children, with all their effects and cattle, should
migrate to Dewgur, To add unportance to the
event, he caused trees to be torm up by the roots,
and planted in rows along the road, to yield the
travellers shade ; and required that all who had
not money to defray the expense of theinremoval,
should be fed on the journey at the public expense..
He directed, also, that for the future Dewgur should
be called Dowlutabad. He raised several fine
buildings within it, and excavated a deep ditch round
the fort, which he repaired and beautifieds | On the
top of the hill whereon the citadel stood, he formed
new reservoirs for water, and made a beautiful
garden. These measures, however, greatly affected
the King’s popularity, and disgusted the people.

Mahomed Toghluk having effected this object,
marched his army against the fort of Kondhana ¥,
near Joonere. Nag-nak, a Koly cluef—
tain, opposed him, with great hravery,
but was forced to take refuge within his
walls,  As the place was built on the summit of a
- steep mountain, inaccessible but by one narrow
pass cut through the rock, the King had no hopes of
reducing it but by famine, He accordingly caused
it to be closely blockaded, and at the same time
made some attacks on the works, in which he was
repulsed with heavy loss. = The garrison, distressed
for provisions, and having no hopes of the King’s
retreat, at length evacuated the fort, at the ex-
piration of eight months, after which the King re.
turned to Dowlutabad.

He had not been long in his capital, when he heard

AcHT4],
AD. 1 34‘0-

# Kondhaua, the modern Singur, near Poma.
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that his father’s old friend, Mullik Beiram Abia,
the viceroy of Mooltan, had rebelled, and was then
reducing the Punjab. The cause of the revolt was
this. Mahomed Toghluk having issued orders to
all his oﬁlcers to send their families to Dowlu-
tabad, Ally the messenger, who was despatched to
Mooltcm, presuming too much upon the King’s an-
thority, had, on observing some hesitation on the part
of Mullik Beiram, proceeded toimpertinent threats;
and one day even told Mullik Beiram’s son-in-law,
that lie believed the viceroy meditated treason
against the state. High words arose between
them, which ended in blows ; and the messenger’s
head was struck off by one of Mullik Beiram’s
servants.  Mullik Beiram, koowing the violent

temper of the King, foresaw that this disrespect to

his authority would never be forgiven, and re-
solved to take up arms. The King, on learning
what had occurred, put his army in motion, towards
Mooltan ; and Mullik Beiram prepared to oppose it.
The two armies, each eager for victory, engaged

with resolution ; and, after a considerable slaughter,

on both sides, the troops of Mullik Beiram were
defeated. The King then gave orders for a general
massacre of the inhabitants of Mooltan, but the
learned sheikh, Rookn-cod-Deen interceded for
them, and prevented the effects of this cruel
mandate. Mullik Beiram, being over-taken in the
pursuit, was slain, and his head brought to the King,
who returned towards Dehly.

At sight of their native country and city, all
those persons who had been forced to Dowlutabad
‘began to desert the army and to disperse themselves

EE 3
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in the woods.  The Emperor, to prevent the conse-
quences of this desertion, took up ' his
i: ;‘: fg‘ié residence in the city, whither he invited
his troops to return, and remgmed
there for the space of two years; but again 1esolvmg
to make Dowlutabad his capital, he removed his
own family, and compelled the nobles to do the -
same. He also carried off the whole of the inha-
bitants a second time to the Deccan, leaving the
noble metropolis of Dehly a resort for owls, and a
dwelling-place for the beasts of the desert. by
At this time the taxes were so heavy, and ex-
acted with such rigour by the revenue officers, that
in the whole extent of that fertile tract, lying be-
tween the rivers Ganges and Jumna, the culti-
vators, weary of their lives, set fire to their houses,
and retired to the woods with their families and
cattlee. Many populous towns were abandoned,
and remained so for seyeral years. The colony of
Dowlutabad was also in great distress. The people,
‘without houses, and without employment, were
reduced to the utmost misery. ‘The tyrannical
caprices of this despot exceed any thing we have
met with in history; of which the fbllowing is a
horrid instance.  While he remained at Debly he
led his army out to hunt, as is customary with
princes. When he arrived in the district of
Beiram, he plainly told his officers, that he came
not to hunt beasts, but mev, and without any ob-
vious reason, began to massacre the inhabitarits.
He had eyen the barbarity to bring home some
thousands of their heads, and to hang them
over the city walls.  On another occasion he made
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an excursion towards Kunowj, and put to death
the inhabitants of that city, and the nelghbnmhood
for many miles round, spreading terror and deso-
lation wherever he turned his eyes.

Dirring this time Mullik Fukhr-ood<Deen, aﬂet
the death of Mullik Beiram, rebelled in the eastern
provinces.  He slew Kuddur Khan, and possessed
himself of the three provinces of Bengal, viz. Luk-
nowty, Soonargam, and Chutgam (Chittagong).
Advices were also brought, that Syud Hussun had
rebelled in Maabir *, on which the King ordered
Syud Ibrahim, the son of Syud Hussun, and all
his family, to prison, and himself marched in the

i 'year 742, after the sacking of Kunowj,
o {331 towards Maabir. ~When he reached

Dowlutabad, he laid s heavy contri-
bution on that city and the neighbouring provinces,
which created an insurrection; but his numerous
army soon reduced the insurgents to their former
state of slavery. From Dowlutabad he sent back
a part of his army under Khwaja Jehan to Dehly,
while he himself marched towards Maabir by the
way of Tulingana.

When Mahomed Toghluk arrived before Wu-
rungole, a pestilence broke out m his camp, to
which a great part of his army fell victim. He
had, on this occasion, nearly lost his own life, and
was induced to leave one of his officers, Mullik Naib
Imad-ool-Moolk, to command the army, and to
return himself towards Dowlutabad.  On the ways,
he was afflicted with a violent tooth-ache, and lost

* The western coast of the peninsula,
EE 4 :
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one of his teeth, which he ordered ‘to be buried, .
with much ceremony at Beer, and caused ‘amags i
nificent ' tomb' to be. reared over it, which still
remains a monument of his vanity and folly.
Having arrived at Moongy-Peitun, he found him«
self better, and halted to take medicines for some
days. In this place he gave to Shahab-ood-Deen
Mooltauy the title of Noosrut-Khan, and the go-
verntent of Bidar with its dependencies, which
yielded annually a revenue of one crore of rupees.
He, at the same time, conferred the government
of Dowlutabad, and the country of Mahrashtra,
upon Kootloogh Khan, who had been his tutor in
early life. : - il
From Peitun he proceeded in -his palky fo
Dehly, having heard of some disturbance among
the Afghans in that capital; and, on this oceasion,
he gave permission’ to such of the inhabitants of
Dowlutabad as were willing to return to Dehly, to
do so," Many thousands made the attempt, but
several of them perished on the way by a famine,
which' then  desolated the countries of Malwa
and Chundery. When the rest reached Dehly,
they found the famine raging there with such
fury, that very few persons could procure the
necessaries of life.  The King’s heart seemed for
once to be softened with the miseries of his sub-
jects. He even, for a time, changed his conduet,
and took some pains to encourage husbandry and
commerce, and, for this‘purpose, distributed
large sums to the inhabitants from the treasury.
But, as the people were distressed for food, they
expended the money in the necessaries of life, and
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’ many of them were se#eg_ely'--punisljkd ~upon_ that

laecount.

" Shahoo®, @ chief of the mountain Afghans,

about this time commenced hostilities in the north,

" and poured down with his followers like a torrent

upon:Mooltan. He laid waste the province,xslew-.

Behzad Khan, the viceroy, in battle, and put his

army to flight, The King now prepared an army

at Dehly, and moved towards Mooltan ; but Shas
hoo, on hig approach, wrote him a submissive
letter, and fled to the mountains of Afghanistan.
Perceiving that it would be useless to pursue
him, the King returned to Dehly. The famine
still continued to rage in the city, so that men
ate one another. The King, in this distress, or-
dered a second distribution of money towards the
sinking of wells, and the cultivation of lands, but
the people, weakened by hunger, and distracted
by private distresses in their families, made very
little progress in restoring prosperity, while the
continuation of the drought rendered all their
labours vain. At this time, also, the tribes of
Mundulla, Chowhan, Meecana, Bhurteea, and
others, who inhabited the country about Soonam
and Samana, unable to discharge their rents, fled
to the woods, ‘Lhe King marched forthwith in
that direction, and massacred several thousands
of them. gk g g
A 1480 In the year 743, Mullik  Heidur, a
AvD, 1342, chief of the G ukkurs, invaded Pun-
jab, and slew Tartar Khan, the viceroy of La-

# This is, probably, some error in the original; but which
the editor could not venture to alter.
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hore, in action. . To ‘reduce this enemy, Khwaja
Jehan was sent into that quarter. The King, at
this time, toqﬁ»;t into his head, that all the calami-
ties .of his reign prot,eeded from his not having
been . confirmed on his throne by the Abassy
Caliph.  He, therefore, despatched presents and
ambassadors to Arabia, and caused the C'ﬂlph 8
name,.in place of his own, to be. struck on all the
current coin, and prohibited his own name. from
being included at public worship in the mosques,
till the Caliph’s confirmation arrived.
In. the year 744, a holy person, of
the race of the Prophet, named Hajy
SayeLd Hoormozy, returned with the ambassador,
and brought a letter from the Caliph and a royal
dress.  The Caliph’s envoy was met 12 miles out-
side the city by the King in person, who advanced
to receive him on foot, put the letter of the Caliph
upon his head, and opened it with great solemnity
and respect. When he returned into the city,
he ordered a grand festival to be made, and caused
the public prayers to be said in all the mosques,
striking out every king’s name from the Khootba
who had not been confirmed, Among the number
of those degraded monarchs was the King’s
own father. He even carried this fancy so far,
as to cause the Caliph’s name to appear on all
his robes, and furniture. The ambassador, after
having been sumptuously entertained, received
a letter to his master; full of respect, and also
botre presents of great value. He was accompanied
on his retorn by Kubeer Khan, commander of
the household troops.

Al H, T,
AL D, 1844,
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““This year Krishn Naig, the son of TLaddur Dew,
who lived near Wurungole, went privately to Bilal
Dew, Raja of the Carnatic, and told him, that he
had heard the Mahomedans, who wefe now very
numerons in the Deccan, had formed the design of
extirpating all the Hindoos, that it was, ‘therefore,
advisable to combine against them. Bilal Dew,
convened a meeting of his kinsmen, and resolved,
first, to secure the forts of his own country, and
then to remove his seat of government amobg the
mountains. Krishn Naig promised, on his part:
also, that when their plans were ripe for execu-
tion, to raise all the Hindoos of Wurungole and
Tulingana, and put Limself at their head. :
Bilal Dew, accordingly, built a strong city upon

the frontiers of his dominions, and called it after
lis son Beeja, to which the word nuggur, or city,
wae added, so that it is now known by the name
of Beejanuggur.* He then raised an army, and
put part of it under the command of Krishn
Naig, who reduced Wurungole, and compelled
Imad-ool-Moolk, the "'govemor, to retreat to Dow-
lutabad.  Bilal Dew and Krishn Naig, united
to their forces the troops of the Rajas of Maabir
and Dwar-Sumoodra, who were formerly tributaries
to the government of the Carnatic. The confe-
derate Hindoos seized the country occupied by
the Mahomedans, in the Deccan, and expelied

" them, so that withinva few months, Mahomed
Toghluk had no possession in that quarter except
Dowlutabad. -

* Vijelanuggur, the city of victory.
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// On recewmg this mtelhgence, the King was ex-

asperated, and became wmore ‘cruel than' ever,

‘wreaking his rage upon his own'subjects, whom he

slew without distinction.  His conduct oceasioned
general disaffection; and the effects of anarchy
prevailed throughou!: the realm. The famine still
continued in the city of Dehly, and the people de-
serted it ; till at length the King, unable to procure

provisions even for his household, was obliged to

abundon it 'also, "and to open the gates, and per-

- mit the few half-starved inhabitants whom he had
lately contined to provide for themselves.  Thous

sands crowded towards Bengal, which, as we have
before observed, had revolted from his rule. Ma-
homed Toghluk encamped his army near Kampila®
and I‘Utlally, on the banks of the Ganges, and drew
supplies from the countrzes of Oude and Kurra:
‘The people of bis camp here built houses, till at
length a town aroese imder the name of Surgdewary.
In the year 744, onc Nizam Bein, a

person of low origin, was governor of
Sumbhul.  This person, unable to collect

A._H- ‘?4»5’:;
A.D. 1845,

_ the estimated revenue, dlld which he had promised,

.msedwa mob of the discontented farmers, and
assuming the royal ensigns, took the title of
Alla-ood-Deen,  Before the King, however, could
march against him, Ein-ool-Moolk, the Soobadar
of Qude, raised forces, defeated him, and sent
his head to court. = Noosrut Khan, who had farmed

* [t is proper to remark here, that there are two places of
the name, the one XKampila, on the Ganges, and the other
situated in the Carnatic (properly so called), near Beejanuggur.
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~ “the revenue of the whole prcmnce of Bidax at one
crore of rupees, unable to make good that contract,
also rebelled in the same year; but Kootloogh
Khan, being ordered against him. from Dowlus
tabad, expelled him from This government.  During
this period, Ameer Ally, the nephew  of Zuffux
Khan Allahy, one of the Ameer Judeeda®, was
sent from Dowlutabad, to collect the revenue
of Koolburga; but finding no legitimate authority
in the country, he summoned together his Mogul
brethren, raised an army, and occupled Koolburga
and Bidur on his own account, .in the. year
746, Mahomed Toghluk, on this: oc-
_casion, sent the Malwa army as a rein-
; forcement to Kootloogh Khan fo. sup-
press | this  rebellion,  When Kootloogh Khan
arrived on the confines of Bidur, Ameer Ally gave
him battle, but was defeated, and obliged to shut
himself up in the city. He was, however, soon
obliged to capitulate, and Kootluocrh Khan Lauled
him prisoner to the King at Su:gdewary, who
banished him and l:us brethren to. (Jbuny These
‘people retummg to Dehly some time afterwards,
without permission, thcy were :J.ppmhended, and

put to death.

X 1. 746,
ALD. 18460

* Tt is proper to mention in this place, that the Ameer Judeeda
(new officers) was a term given to the newly-converted Moguls
“and their descendants, who, having invaded India, had embraced

the Mahomedan religion, and the service of the kings of Dehly
at the same time. Being foreigners, and without any local par-
tialities, they werc decrmmed the best ifistruments for carrying
into effect the orders of a despotic prince,  They were, how-
ever, bold and bigh spirited, and soon shook off their allegiar.ce.
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' Ein.ool-Moolk, Seobadar of Oude, havmg paid
. _gxeat atteution to the King, and entirely gp.mecl his
favour, was appointed to the viceroyship of Dow.
lutabad, and W urungole, in the room of Kootloogh
Khan,  Ein-ool-Moolk considered this appointment
as a prelude, on the partof the King, to deprwe
him of Qfﬁce s for when he considered the services
which Kootloogh Khan had rendered in the
'Deccan, and the power he enjoyed, Ein-ool-Moolk
‘concluded the King only intended to withdraw him
from his own province, in order eventually to
deprive him of office altogether. Meanwhile, a
number of the clerks of the revenues, being
convicted of abuses in their departments, were
ordered to be put to death. Some who survived,
found means to escape to Kin-ool-Moolk, and
endeavoured to confirm him in  his quspmxons
of the King’s intentions. FEin-o ol-Moolk "L(,CME
ingly refused to proceed to the Decean; and breaking
out into rebellion, sent a detachment of horse
under the command of his brother, who carried
off all the elephants, camels, and horses that
were foraging near the royal camp. The King
instantly - suromoned the troops in the vicinity
to his assistance, while Khwaja Jehan joined him
with a force from Debly. = The King now marched
against Ein-ool-Moolk; who by this time had
crossed the Ganges, and was advancing.  Ein-
ool-Moolk had hopcs that the wya.l army, dl‘sﬂ'ﬂsl_
with their sovereign, would join him. The
King behaved with great intrepidity on this
occasion,  He mounted his horse, and led his
troops in person, and after a sharp conflict put the
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~yebels to flight.  Ein-ool-Moolk was
i fé‘;’é taken ptisover, and his brother Sheikh
S0 Oollay swho had been wounded in the
action, was drowned while swimming across the
‘Ganges; and Ruheem-Dad, another brothier, was
slain on the field.! Contrary to expectation, the
King not only pardoned Ein-ool-Moolk, but re-
stored him to his former office, saying, that he was
certain’ he was a loyal subjeet, but had been nsti-
gated to this rebellion by others, He now pro-
ceeded to Bhyraich, to pay his' devotions at the
tomb of Satar Musdood Ghazy, one of the descend.
ants of Sooltan Mahmood of Ghizny, who had been
killed there by the Hindoos, in the year 557.
(A.D.1162))  He distributed alms among the
fakeers, who resided at Bhyraich, and then returned
to Dehly. After this period, Hajy Rujub Ruffeea
Seturned from Bagdad, and Sheikh-oos-Sheiookh
Misry artived as envoy from the Caliph. = He was
received with the same distinctions as the former
ambassador, and was dismissed with rich presents,
Not long after, a prince of the house of Abass
‘arrived at Dehly, and was met by the King in
state, at the village of Palum. He was presented
with two lacks of tunkas, (33384 9s. 8d.) an estate,
a palace at Dehly, and five gardens.  Out of
respect to the Caliph, this prince was always
placed on the King’s right hand at court, and the
King sometimes even condescended to sit on the
~carpet below him. e
It was at this period, that some of the courtiers
calummniated Kootloogh Khan, governor of Dowlu-
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N ;gﬁﬂiad, and accused him of oppression and abuse 0
authority in his govérn'-meut,_thc')li';g;h-,-* in teuth, he
was a man of great integrity.  The King, however,
recalled him, and ordered his brother Mowlana
Nizam-ood-Deen, then' at Baroach (to whom ‘he.
gave the title of Alum-ool-Moolk), to assume
charge of the government of the Deccan, till he
should send some other person from court.  When
the King's order arrived, Kootloogh Khan was
employed in constructing a reservoin of water,
which is called the Houz-i-Kootloo * to thig day.
This work be begged of his brother to (:omple_te,,
and prepared to return to Dehly, with the reves
nues of the Deccan, which he had previously se-
cured in the fort of DharaGir, the hill-fort of -
Dowlutabad, so called. ~After the arrival of
Kootloogh Khan, the Deccan was divided into four
provinces; and four governors were nominaté@.-
‘who had orders to reduce it, as before, tothe King’s
autht)rity.' To accomplish this end, a numerous
-army, under the command of Imad-ool-Moolk, now
created Sipah-Salar of the Deccan, was directed
to march to Dowlutabad 3 Survur-ool-Moolk, and
Yoosoof Bokraz, two officers of distinction, were
also sent with him. | "Fhese three officers wére
ordered to -placg themselves under the immediate
authority of’ Alum-ool-Moolk, the newly appointed
viceroy ; and it was estimated that they would be
able to realise, annually, a revenue of seven crord off
silver tunkast, out of the resources of the country.

* This reservoir, on the table-land above Dowlutabad, is still

to be seen. : -.
f If the tunka be estimated at 4d., according to the comput-
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e extremely ill did this arrangement turn out,
that the people, disgusted at the removal of Koot.
loogh Khan, and the want of capacity displayed
by the new administration, rebelled in all quarters,
and the country was devastated and depopulated
in consequence. . AR T

To make up the deficiency of the revenue, as
well as to gratify their own avarice, the Deccan
officers plundered and oppressed the inhabitants.
At this time, also, the government of Malwa wag
conferred on Azeez, a person of low origin, for-
merly a wine.seller, who was told that the Ameer
Judeeda being considered dangerous subjects by
the King, he must contrive some plan for their ex.
tirpation.  These measures being put in train,
the King marched back to his old cantonments
at Surgdewary,: and  began to promote = agri-

“@ulture on a plan originating with himself. He
,u.pl')ointed an inspector of husbandry, by the name
of Amurgo, literally, one who issues commands,
‘Fhis person divided the country into districts of -
60 miles square, each placed under an officer to
be responsible for its cultivation and improve.
ment.  About 100 of these officers received their
_app'ointments at once, and 70 laks of tunkas,
(116,606L) were issued out of the treasury, in two
years, to enable them to carry on the business.
The object, however, entirely failed; and it is likely,

ation of Nizam-ood-Deen Ahmud Bukhshy, this sam would
amount to 1,166,666/ sterling, which, considering the logse
tenure by which the Moslems held their possessions in the
Deccan, seems a large suin, :

L OY. e FF
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if the King had evet returned 'to Dehly, be would
not have sp‘ued the In‘e of' one of thosr- revenue
officers. :
When Azeez arnved at I)hé.r, in Malwa, he e
vited the Ameer Judeeda, or foreign chiefs, to an
entertainment, and assassinated 70 of them with
 their attendants. He wrote to the King an ace
~ count of this transaction, who sent hii a present
'~ of adress and a fine horse, and required all the offi-
cers of his court to write congratulator ¥ letters
on the subject, and-to send him each a‘preses t.
The King had lately taken into his head, that
he shou]d be better served by people of low
birth than by men of family. He accordingly pro-
moted Lutchena, a singer, Peeroo, a gardener, and
Munga his son, Baboo, a weaver, Mokbil, a slave,
and other mean persons, to the rank of nobles, and
raised thei to the command of provinees, and o
high offices at court; forgetting the lines ot the
poet, who observes,
“ Let the man who shall raise up a slave recollecr,
“ If ever a grateful return he expect,
- That his labour is lost ; and too late he shall find
46 A venomous reptile his heart hath eptwined.” #
Having discovered that men of character wou]d
noﬁ become the instraments of his wickedness, the
King elevated these wretches to rank and power
but the consequence was, that the hereditary nobles,
and more particularly the Ameer Judeeda (the
foreign officers), only watched for opportunities to
1evoit, especially after the massacre by Azeez in
Malwa. This spirit was first evinced in Guzerat.

MAHOMED TOGHLUK.

* Firdowsy’s satire on Sooltan Mahmood Ghiznevy.
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On the discovery of the feelings of the nobles, the
King’s new governor, Mullik Mokbil, who, with
the title of Khan Jehan, had been just nominated
to the oflice, secured the treasure, and proceeded
to Dehly. The Ameer Judeeda, hearing of his
movements, intercepted him with a body of horse,
and not only robbed but compelled him to retire
to Nehrwala, the capital of Guzerat, The King,
on hearing of this assault, prepared to march to
Guzerat, leaving his nephew Feroze governor at

Dehly. In the year 748, he encamped
:: ::_' ;7;‘:.;,. at Sooltanpoor, about 30 miles from the

city, where he waited till he could collect
hig army.

Kootloogh Khan, the King’s preceptor, and the
ex-viceroy of the Deccan, being then at the capital,
sent a message to the King through Zeea-ood-Deen
Burny, the author of the history of Feroze Shah,
saying that this petty insurrection did not demand
the presence of the King, himself volunteering
to march, and bring matters to issue; observing,
that the absence of the King, at this particular mo-
ment, from Dehly might favour a rebellion in
other quarters. This advice had no effect on Ma-
homed Toghluk who continued his prepardtions
for moving as before. An address now came from
Azeez, the vintner’s son, begging to be allowed to
leduce the foreign chiefs of Guzerat, he being
nearer to the scente, and having a suflicient force,
as he supposed, for that purpose. The King as-
sented, but expressed much doubt of his success,
knowing him-to be a dastard, and without ex-
perience. Azeez advanced towards Guzerat; but!

RP2
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in the beginning of the action he was panic-struck,
and falling from his horse was taken and saffered
a eruel death, while his army was totally defeated.

The King, when  informed of this disaster
pa roceeded without delay. It was during this jour-
ney that he told  Zeea-ood-Deen Burny the his-
torian, that he understood the people thought these
rebellions arose out of his severe _.p__umshments*
« but,” said he, * they shall never prevent them.:
« Crimes must be punished. You are a great his-
¢ torian, and learned in the law, in what instances
“ are capital punishments war ranted ?*’

The historian replied, ¢ Seven sorts of anmals
« deserve severe punishment. These are, 1. Apos-
« tates from their religion. 2. Those who shed
« innocent blood. 8. Double adulterers. 4. Res
¢ bellious persons, &, Officers disobeying law-
¢ ful orders. 0. Thieves. 7. Perverters of th’é
¢ laws,” v '

« The King then aaked « How many of these seven
< are mentioned in the law of the Koran?” Zeea-
ood-Deen said, ¢ Three; apostates, shedders of
< Mahomedan blood, and double adulterers. The
< other four are punishable consistently with good
¢ policy.” The King said,  All this may be very
¢ true, but mankind has become much worse since.
¢t those laws were made.”’

- When the King reached the hills of Aboog'm, on
the confines of €nizerat, he sent one of his generals
against the rebels. He encountered them in the
vicinity of the v1lla ge of Devy, and gave them a total
defeat. ‘The hm& now procecded by slow marches
to Baroach, aml Mulik Mukbll wassent in pursuitof
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the rebels.  This officer came up with them on the
Nurbudda, put the greatest part to the. sword; and
the few who escaped took refuge with Man-Dew,
Raja of Buglana, by whom they were plundered of
their wealth, A W ALY
" On this oceasion many of the Mogul chiefs fell;
and the towns of Cambay and Surat were sacked
by the King’s troops. The King now resolved to
seize the persons of the Ameer Judeeda of the
Deccany and he proposed doing it thus : Zein-ood-
Deen Zund, entitled Movyeid-ood-Deen, and Mul-
lik Mokbil, the son of Rookn-ood-DeenTah nesurry,
both of whom were the most disreputable fellows
of the time, were employed and sent to Dowlu-
tabad, to secure the Ameer Judeedayand to bring
them to punishment. Mullik Mokbil, according
to orders, repaired to Dowlutabad, and summoned
the Ameer Judeeda from Rachoor, Moodkul
Koolbtirga, Bidur, Bejapoor, Gunjouty, Raibagh,
Githurry, Hookerry, and Berar, * T '
' "The Ameer Judeeda, conformably to those
orders, prepared to come to Dowlutabady and
when they arrived, Mullik Mokbil seized ‘and
despatched them, under a guard’ of 1500 horse,
to the royal presence. On arriving on the Dec-
can frontier, at the Manukpoon] pass, fearing the
King had a design on their lives, they entered
mto a confederacy, and with ongyg}cc(}rd fell upon
the guard, and slew Ahmud Lﬂi‘ﬁeen who com-

« % This geographical sketch gives a good on of the extent
of the Mahoniedan conquests before the period of the inde-
pendent kings of the Deccan.
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manded theescort, 'W'it11-=many of his people, and
the rest of the King’s troops under the com-
mand of one Hoossein Ally fled to Dowlutabad.
: The Ameer Judeeda pursued = them
i:g:f;f,}_ closely, and before measures could be
; taken to put the place in a state of de-
fence, they took it, being favoured by the garrison,
Having experienced kindness from the viceroy,
Alum-ool-Moolk, the insurgents spared his life
and property, but the rest of the King’s officers
were put to death, and the public'treasure was i-
vided among the captors. The Ameer Judeeda
of Guzerat and other parts, who had retired to the
woods and mountains, hearing of the success of
their brethren in the Deccan, joined them; and
Ismael, one of their leaders, was proclaimed ng,
by the title of Nasir-ood-Deen,
Mahomed Toghluk, hearing of this 1evolutmn,
left Baroach, and proceeded towards Dowlutabad.
The Ameer Judeeda drew out their army, and
waited to give him battle. The two armies met ;
and the insurgent troops, though meat.ly mfenor
in point of numbers, roused by their dange
wrongs, assaulted the royal troops: with such vio-
lence, that the right and left wings fell ba
the whole army was upon the point of ﬂlght But
many of the chieftains who fought in the van being
killed, 4000 of the troops of the Ameer Judeeda
fled, and night coming on, left the battle un-
decided. A conncil was called by the Ameer
Judeeda, who had suffered severely in the engage-
ment, and it was determined that their King,

MAHOMED TOGHLUK,
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Ismael, should retire into Dowlutﬁmd,wﬁh a
strong garrison.  That the remainder should dis-

I;

perse  till Mahomed Toghluk might quit the

Deccan; when they resolved fo re-assemble at
Dowlutabad. =~ Mahomed Toghluk, K meanwhile,
having ordered Imad-ool-moolk, then at Elich-
poor, to puisue the fugitives, himself laid siege
to Dowlutabad, . : "

In this state of affairs, advices arrived that one
Mullik Toghan, heading the Amecer Judeeda of
Guzerat, had been joined by many of the ze-
mindars, and  had not only taken pogsession: of
Nehrwala the capital, but bad put to.death. Moo-
zuffur Khan, the Naib. of Guzerat, had imprisoned
Moiz-ood-Deen the governor, and  after having
plundered Cambay, -was now besieging Baroach.
. Mahomed Toghluk, on hearing this news, left one
of his generals to conduct the siege of Dowlutabad,
and with the greater part of' his army marched to
Guzerat. He was plundered on his route of many
_elephants, aud a great pait of his baggage, by
the Deccanees, by whom he was closely pursued.
Having, however, arrived at Baroach, and en-
camped bn the Nurbudda, Mullik Toghan retreated
to Cambhjfﬁ" whither he was followed by Mullik
Yoosoof Bokraz, whom the King detached in pur-
suit.  Mullik Toghan engaged his pursuers at
Cambay, and not only defeated. them, but slew
Mullik Yoosoof, and many other officers of  dis-
tinction. He also caused all the.prisoners taken
i the action, as well as those formerly in counfine-
ment, to be put to death, among whom was Moiz-
ood-Deen, the governor of Guzerat.
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| Mdhomed Taghluk hﬁarm' of thiy cruelty, and
hastened to Cam-
bay, bUt Mulhk {‘oghan, blé o oppose him, re-
treated, afid the ng owing to the state of the wea-
ther and bad roads, was obhged to halt at Asawul, *
Here adviees were received, that Mullik Toghan
had recruited | his army at Nehrwala, and was re-
turning tm'-;ﬁve battle. The royal troops met him
at Kurry. ' Mullik Toghan had injudiciously caused
his men to be intoxicated with strong liquors, so
‘that they attacked the royalists with the fury ofmad-
men ; but the elephants in front checked their ap-
proach, and eventually threwthem into disotder. An
easy victory was obtained ¢ five hundred prisoners
were taken and put to death, and arf equal number
‘fell on the field. The King despatched the son of
Mullik Yoosoof Boghraz in pursuit  of ‘Toghan
“after the battle; but he quitted Nehrwala, and
fled, with his family and followers, to Tutta, in
Sind.  The King, meanwhile, went in person fo
Nehrwala, and was employed for some time in re-
storing order in Guzerat. ; :

‘At this time news arrived from the-rl)ecmn
that the foreign officers had re-agsembled under one
Hugsun Gungoo; had defeated and slain the
royalist general, Imad-ool-Moolk, and had expelled
all the royal troops towards Malwa. = Also, that
Ismael had resigned his regal gﬂ*ty, to which
Hussun Gungoo had succeeded, under the title of
Alla-ood-Deen Hussun Gungoo Bahmuuny. Ma-
homed Toghluk, on receipt ot this information,

Mnnamnn TGG}}LUK

* Now known i)y the name of Ahmudabad,



began to t.onmder his own ﬁe“ve 1Ly
cause of all thaﬁﬁwdmrcler& He ther" ¢
solved to governwith more mildness for theftxtuw.
In the first place, however, he sent for Qﬁ nephew
Feroze, and other nobles, with their troops from
Dehly, in order to employ them a(mmst llussun
Gungoo. gL

Before these chiefs arvived, the I}sec:can auny
had become so formidable, that the! Kmrr deter-
mined, in the first instance, to settle Guzerat,
and to reduce Girnal (now called Joonagur), after
which, he intended to march in person to the
Decean.  He spent the greatest part of that year
in Guzerat recruiting his army, and in the follow-
ing year he was taken up in besieging Girnal
and in reducing Kutch. Nizam-ood-Deen Ahm&d
states, that Mahomed Toghluk took the fort of
Girnal ; but other authors of good authority relate,
that he desisted trom the attempt, on receiving
offerings from the Raja ; and that the fort of Girnal
was not taken by the Mahomedans till it fell to
the arms of Mahmood Shah, Begurra of Guzerat,
A H.878, (A D, 1469.) Zeea-ood-Deen Burny
informs ug, that Mahomed Toghluk, addressing
‘i one day, said, that the disorders of the state
swere of such a nature, that he no sooner put down
disaflection in one place than it broke out in
another, and-asked the historian to suggest to
him some remedy. Zeeaood-Deen replied, that
when disaffection had once taken root so deeply
in the minds of the people, it was not to be ex-
terminated without tearing up the vitals of the
state. 'The King, he observed, ought now to be
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~convinced how little was to be effected by mere
punishment ; and he stated that the wisest men
had recommended that a monarch, in his eircu'm-_-
stances, should abdicate the throne in favour of his
heir, in order 'ﬁ)"fb‘hlitemte the remembrance. of
formice wrongs, and dispose the people to peace
and good order.  Mahomed Toghluk (says Burny)
angwered, in an angry tone, that he had ne one
whom he could trust, and that he was determined
to scourge his subjects for their rebellion, what-
ever might be the consequence. A

The King, soon after this conversation with
Burny, fell sick at Gondul, a town within fifteen
coss of Girnal (Joonagur), where he remained
till the arpival of Khwaja Jehan, whom he had
previously sent to Dehly to conciliate and bring
with him the principal men of the state. The
King, having recovered a little from his disorder,
mnustered his army, and directed boats to be col-
lected from Mooltan, Oocha, and Depalpoor, and
to be brought to Tutta, Marching thence from
Gondel, the arm Y reached the banks of the Ind (s,
which they crossed in spite of some opposition
made by Toghan, The King was here joined
by five thousand Mogul horse under the command
of Altoon Bahadur, with which reinforcement he
proceeded to Tutta, in order to chastise the Soo-
mura* Prince of Sind, who had given protection to
Toghan. Within sixty miles of that city the King
halted, to pass the first ten days of the mionth of

MAHOMED m'GHL_UK. i

* The dynasty of Soomura reigned for many years in Sind s
and their history forms a part of this work,
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Mehurrim ; where, having eaten to excess of fish,
he was seized with a fever. He could not be pre-
vailed on to remain quiet till he recovered, but em-
Mohurrum a1, barked in a vessel, and proceeded to
L A.m. 752, within 30 miles of Tutta, where he ex-
yz‘tc{‘:ﬁ% pired, on the 21st day of Mohurram,
ol .in the year752. | And thus this cruel
tyrant became the victim of death, after a reign

of 27 years'.
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Mnimy in the army. — Tiw Magui troops p.’,uuder the a‘rea"wry
e Ferone, the King's cousing is: raised bo the throne in the ]
camp = his claim dispuled at Deh{cy — bul s subsequently e
knowledged. — The independence of the Deccan aﬂd Bengal ac-
‘knowledged by, the reception of ambassadors, — War with
Bengal. — T'he Dehly army proceeds o Jajnuggury in Ort issd.
The King's eldest son, Mahomed, suspecied of treason. < The
King reconciled to him -~ resigns the government into has
hands,— A governor is sent to Guserat, who is refused admii=
tance. — A conspivacy formed to depase the new King, wha is
besieged in his capital. — The old King is brought out by the
poputnw, the new King expelled. — The Prince Ghetas~ood-
Deen is raised to the throne. — Death of Feroxe Toghluk at
the age of 90 - his character.—— The pubhc tuarks eweculed
during his reign, .

A the time of the death of Mahomed Toghluk,
his cousin Feroze, nephew of Gheias-ood-Deen
"Toghluk, was in the camp. Mahomed Toghluk
having a great .Jﬂectmn for him, proposed making
him his succesam ‘and accordingly recommended
him as such on his death.-bed to his nobles. On
the King's demise, the army fell into the utmost
disorder ; to remedy which, Feroze gained over
the majority of the Indian chiefs to his party, and
prevailed on the Mogul mercenaries to remove to
some distance from the camp, till he should be
able to compose the differences which existed in
the army. Ameer Nowroze, the Mogul chief who
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commanded the troops of his nation in the army
quitted the camp on the same night, and joined
Altoon Tash, the leader of the auxiliary troops,
to whom he suggested that the time was favour.
able for them to plunder the late King’s treasure,
and then to retreat to their native country. Altoon
Tash being persuaded to enter into this scheme,
the Moguls returned next mormng to
the camp, which was still in disorder,
and after a sharp skirmish, loaded several
camels with freasure. In order to secure himself
from further depredation, Feroze led the army to
Seyustan, commonly called Sehwan, and took every
possible precaution to defend himself against the
Moguls.  Meanwhile, the officers of his army
having waited on Feroze, entreated him to ascend
the throne, to which, after some hesitation, he gave
his assent, and was accordingly proclaimed King,
On the same day be gave orders to ransom the pri-
soners, who during the late disorders had fallen into
the hands of the people of T'utta, and on the third day
he marched against the Mogul auxiliaries, whom he
defeated, and took many of their chiefs prisoners.
He now marched to the fort of Bhukur, where
presents were conferred on the members of the
court, and the army, as is usual on the accession of
a new king; and donations were given also to the
zemindars of Bhukur and Sehwan. From thence
the King detached Imad-ool-Moolk and Ameer
Ally Ghoory, with a part of his army, against the
rebel Mullik Toghan, while he himself marched to

Qocha, where he did ~many acts of benevolence
and charity.,

4;, H. 752.
A, D, 1351,



At Qocha the King received advices from
Dehly, that Khwaja Jehan, a relation of the late
King, then about Q0 years of age, had placed
upon the throne a boy six years old, of obscure
origin, whom he had adopted, by the name of Ma-
homed, and had procured a number of the citi.z'en'si" ;
to pay him allegiance. Feroze deputed Seif-ood-
Deen, the controller of the elephant stables, to ex-
postulate with the old man, and to induce him by
promises of forgiveness and favour to relinquish
his project. The King, meanwhile, remained some
time with the army at Depalpoor, and thence pro-
ceeded to Ajoodhun, where he was joined by Mullik
Mokbil. This chief had before received the title of
Khan Jehan: he was now vested with the seals of
office, and received an honorary dress in confirm-
ation of his former diguity of vizier. i

Feroze having reached Hansy, on his way to
Dehly, met messengers from Khwaja Jehan,
saying, that as the government was now in the hands
of Mahomed Toghluk’s son, it would be right for
Feroze to acknowledge the title of the young King,
and be content to act as regent during his mino-
rity. . Feroze* gonfronted the bearers of this com-
munication with the officers of his court, and asked

FEROZE TOGHLUK.

* If we consider the opposition encountered by Feroze from
a part of his army, the caution he took from the first, before
he proclaimed himself king, and the suspicious ciccumstances
connected with the youth, who was actually crowned at Dehly
by Khwaja Jehan, strong suspicions must arise that Feroze
was an usurper; and although Ferishta does not positively
assert it, he evidently supposes the youth who was set up at
the capital, to have beena son of Mahomed Toghluk.
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-them whether they knew of  the cdﬁstence of any
 male descendant of Mahomed Woghluk.: They
‘all declared, that if Mowlana Kumal-ood-Deen,
Who was then present, did not know of any petson,
. noone else could. On appealing to Mow-

: g'fgsl Jana Kumal-ood-Deen, he replied, that
; though there should even be any of his
issue, itwas advisable, under existing circumstances,
to abide by the measures already adopted 1 think,

Q.

 therefore, there is strong reason to believe, that the

youth who was set up at Dehly was actually a son
of Mahomed Toghluk, though it was at that
time deemed prudent by the nobles not to recog-
nise him.

 After this event, Feroze dc,p uted .‘ahe:kh Dawood
Mowlanazada (the messenger) of Khwaja Jehan,
to relate what had passed, and to induce him to
bring about an accommodation. Shortly after
Sheikh Dawood reached the city, a number of the
principal men of the place hastened to the camp,
and paid their respects to Feroze. At the same
time, advices were received from Guzerat, that
 Mullik Toghan had been defgated by Imad-ool-
Moolki and on that very day a #on was born to
the new King, whom he named Futteh Khan.
These circumstances all concurred to confirm
the power of Feroze. Khwaja Jebau, conceiving
it impracticable to support the young King, agreed
to an accommodation with Feroze, to whom he
sent some respectable persons to intercede for

pardon, and to solicit leave to pay his respects,
Feroze willingly consented ; and the old man, with

his head bare, and his turban hung round his neck,



~“eame, accompanied by some of the principal men
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of the city, to nifake his submission. « The King,
according to his promise, spared his life, but or-

dered the chief magistrate of Hansy to take him

under bis charge. Mullik Khutab, Khwaja Jehan's
principal partisan, was banished to Bituhnda, and
Sheikhzada Boostamy was expelled the court.

Rujub 2. On the 2d of Rujub, in the year 759,
a0 752. Feroze entered Dehly, and having as-

§ept 14.  cended the throne, began to administer

» P 1801 justice to his people, who flocked from

all quarters with their petitions, On the 5th of
Sutur 5. Suffury in the following year, on the
A.m. 754, plea of hunting, he removed his court to
March 12.. the Surmore hills, and reduced several
A0 1958 pemindars to obedience. On Menday
G the 3d of Jumad~ool—Aw-u13 the King h_a_d __
“Awal 5. & second son born to him at Dehly,
A. 1. 754 whom he named Mahomed, on which
June 5. . gccasion great rejbicings were made, and
i presents distributed. ol
In the year, 754, the King, having
hunted at Kallanore, caused a paldce to
be built“on the banks of the Soorsutty.
Shial. In the month of Shuwal, of the same
December, year, he appointed Khan Jehan to the
charge of Dehly, and himself marched
towards Luknowty, to subdue Hajy Elias. This
chief had assumed royal honours, and the title
of Shums-ood-Deen, and had also occupied with
his troops the whole of Bengal and Behar, as
far as Benares. On the King’s arrival in the
neighbourhood of Gorukpoor, the zemindars of that

AL H 754,
A D 13531. A
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place made 'the usual pleqents ntﬁvvere admitted
to pay their respects. The King then penetrated
“as far as Bundwa, one of the stations of Hajy
Elias ; and the latter retreated to Yekdulla, whither
the ng pursued him, and arrived, there on the
Abpdy g 7th of Rubbee-ool-Awul. ' An detion
ubbee-ool-
Awal7.  ensued on the same day; but Hajy
. 4705 Elias baving entrenched his position
Aprlle very strongly reduced the King to the
: necessity of surrounding him. Thes
‘blockade continued for twenty days, when, on the
\Rubbee-ool- Oth of Rubbee-ool-Akhir, Feroze, in.
Akhic 5. tending to change his ground, and to
e encamp on the banks of the Ganges,
went ouf to reconnoitre. The enemy, imagining
that he meditated a retreat, left their works, and
drew up in order of battle. On perceiving it
was the King’s intention to attack them, however,
they again retreated, but with such precipitation
and confusion, that 44 elephants and many stand-
ards fell into the King’s hands. The rainy season
soon after came on with great violence ; peace was
concluded; and the King resurned fo Dehly,
- without effecting his object.

CamL75s. In the year 755, Feroze built the city
A 1854, of Ferozabad adjoining that of’ Dehly ;
Shaban 12, and on the 12th of Shaban he marched
As B PEO- iy Depalpoor, and constructed a canal
Wy 12 48 coss in length, from the Sutloog to
A.D. 1855,
avievgr, the Kugur, In the year 757 he ‘€on-
4.0, 1856. structed another canal, between the hills
of Mundvyand Surmore, from theJ umng, into which

VOL. 1. oA i
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11/ led seven other fninor atreams, ‘whiclrall uniting,
_ran in one channel through Hansy, and from thence
to Raiseen *, where he built a strong fort which he
called Hissar Feroza. » He also conveyed an aque-
duct from the Kugur, over the river Soorsutty, to
the village of Pery Kehrs, where he founded a
clty, named after him Ferozabad. At the same
time he mtmdnced another canal from the Jumna,
which filled a Jarge lake he caused to’ be constructed

- 'at Hissar Feroza. ' In the month of
f"'eh“-‘ 751. Zechuj an honorary dress, and a letter of
an. 1356,

: congratulation on his accession, were
presented from Abool Futteh Aboo-Bukr Aby-Ru-
beea Sooliman, Caliph of Egypt. In the same
month, also, he received an FIﬂbﬂ‘SS}’ with fresh pro-
posals of peace from Bengal, which Feroze ac-
cepted, and soon after ratified.  Fromi that period,
both Bengal and the Deccan became in a great
measure independent of Dehly, paying only 'a

) small tribute. . In the year 7568, Zuffur

A T8 Khan Farsy, coming from Soonargam

A.D. 1857, Y @ gam,
oy was appointed deputy to the Vizier.

; « In the year 759, the King of Bengal

1355, sent a number of elephants and other

~ rich presents to Dehly, in rveturn for

wbwh a number of Arabian and Persian horses,

some jewels, and other rich curiosities, were sent

- back.  When the Dehly embassy arrived at Beliar,

news was receiveghof the death of Shums<ood-Deen,

kxg'g of Bengal, and also of his son Sikundur

BT

* This place must not be confounded with a town of the
same name in Malwa.
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having succeeded to the thmne. The envoy, there.
- fore, thought proper nottopwceed but returned to
Dehly.  The King, being in the same year en-
camped at Sumana, received advices that the
Moguls had made an incursion as far as Depalpoor ;
he forthwith ordered Kubool Khan (Lord of the
Bed-chamber) with an army against them ; but
the enemy, before his arrival, having laden them.
selves with spoil, retreated towards their own
country. : :
R In the year 760, the King marched
i ’Izggq an army in the direction of Luknowty,
but being overtaken by heavy rains
at Zuflurabad, bhe remained there during the
monsoon. While at this place, Sheikzada Boos-
tamy, who had been banished on the accession of
Yeroze, arrived as ambassador on the part of the
Caliph of Egypt, with a dress, on which account
he was graciously received, and honoured with the
title of Azim-ool-Moolk. An embassy was now
despatched to Sikundar Shah Poorbeea, the new
King of Bengal, and in return, an envoy came,
bringing with him five elephants and other valuable
presents. Notwithstanding these overtures, Feroze
marched, after the rains, towards Luknowty, and,
on his way, conferred the ensigns of  royalty
~on his son the Prince Futteh Khan, at the same
time appointing tutors for his instruction. = Feroze
arrived at Bundwa, when Sikundur Shah, fol-
lowing the example of his father, retreated to
Yekdulla, and shut himself up in that place.
Being, however, closely invested, and reduced to
great distress, he sent’48 elephants and other
GG 2
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presents to the Kma oi: Dehly, thh overtmeq for
peace. dna few days, erms were agreed on; and
Feroze returned as faras Joonpoor, where b he quars
“tered his army for another season, and then moved
towards Jajnuggur,  On reaching the town of
Songhur, he pluudered that country, and its ruler
(Ray Sidhun) fled, His daughter, who bore the
title of Shukr Khatoon*, fell into the King’s
hands, and was brought up as his own child. The
King thence proceeded to a town called Benarest,
the capltal of the Prince of Jajnuggur, The Raja
fled, on the approach of Feroze, towards Tulingana.
Having plundered thiscountryalso, Ferozereturned,
and on his way was met by the Raja of Beerbhoom,
who presented him with 87 elephants and other
valuable presents, in consideration of his not ra-
vaging his territory. The King, having received
these presents, changed his route, and, as he passed
through the woods of Pudmawutty, which abound
with elephants, he caught 80 of those animals,
and killed two others, that could not
be taken : contmumg his march, he
reached Dehly in the year 762, :
On his return, in the month of Rujub, to I)ehly,
the King heard, that in the vicinity of Perwar was
a hill, out of which ran a stream that emptled

I-‘ERO.ZE TOGHLUK,

A HC 762,
A:p. 1560,

* This title, signifying ¢ the Sweet Lady,” must have been
given to her by the King after her captivity.

T Not Bevares on the Ganges. It is not improbable that
the Baja, during his reign, chose to give to his capital the name
of the Holy City, which it lost after his death. Several ine
stances of these ephemeral titles occut in Indian history, and
serve ‘to confound the reader, who may not be aware of the
practice.



“lito the Sutloq], whichi stream bore the name of
Soorswutty : that beyond the Soorswutty was a
smaller stream called the Sulimh. It was stated,

that if a large mound, which intervened between

these streams, were cut through, the water of the
Soorswutty would fall into the small stream, from
whence it would come to Soonam, passing through
Surhind and Munsoorpoor, and’ that the stream
would flow all the year round.  'The King, ac-
cordingly, moved in that direction, and mdmc.d
that 50,000 labourers should be collected and
employed in cutting through that mound, and
forming the junction. In this mound were found
the bones of clephants and men. The bones of
the human fore-arm measured three guz ‘(five feet
two inches): some of the bones were petrified, and
some  retained the appearance of bone.  On this
‘oecasion, Surhind, which was or igmally under Sa-
mana, was separated, and the country, within
ten' coss (15 miles) of Samana, was formed into

the separate district of Surhind. It was' made
over in charge to Z em—dod-l)een and Shums-ood- "

Deen Ally Ruza. A fort wis also built there,
which was called Ferozepoor. *
From thence the King marched towards he

% The canal 18 now no longer in existence. The Soorsw utty
is called the Soorsa in our maps, and.the Sulima has received
the modern name of the Khanpoor Kee Nala, the Khanpoor
Stream. The intentions of the Prince have been frustrated,
and the labour of 50,000 men would have been expended in
vain, had rot the historian transmitted to us the curious fact
of fassjl c]ephunts, or, perhaps, mastodons, bemg dug up nearly
tive centarics ago in the ngighbourhood of the [I:muia}'a
mountains, 1200 miles distant from the sea.
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‘mountains of Nagrakote, where hie was overtaken

by a storm of hail and snow.* The Raja of Nagra-

kote, after sustaining some loss, submitted, but was

restored to his dominions. The name of Nagra-

kote was, on this occasion, changed to that of
Mahomedabad, in honour of the late king. The

people of Nagrakote told Feroze, that the idol

which the Hindoos worshipped in the tewmple of
Nagrakote was the image of Nowshaba, the wife

of Alexander the Great, and that that conqueror had

left the idol with them, The nmame by which

it was then known was Jwalamooky.t In this

temple was a fine library of Hindoo books, con-

sisting of 1300 volumes. Feroze ordered one

of those books, which treated of philosophy, astro-

logy, and divination, to be translated into prose in

the Persian language, by Eiz-ood-Deen, Khalid
Khany, and called it Dulayil Feroze Shahy. Some

historians state, that Feroze, on this occasion,

broke the idols of Nagrakote, and mixing the frag-

ments with pieces of cow’s flesh, filled bags with

them, and caused them to be tied round the necks

of bramins, who were then paraded through the

camp. It is said, also, that he sent the image of
Nowshaba to Mecca, to be thrown on the road,

that it might be trodden under foot by the pilgrims,

and that he also remiited the sum of 100,000

tunkas, to be distributed among the devotees and

servants of the tempie. ¥ :

# The Indians had, probably, never before seen snow fall.

t Effulgent Countenance. :

i It is to be hoped, for the honour of this great and liberal
Prince, that this story is the invention of some bigotted his-
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- After the conquest of Nagrakote, Ferozc moved
. down the Indus towards Tutta, wherein Jam Bany,
the son of Jam Afra, who had before been cousi-
dered tributary to Dehly, had revolted, and for-
tified himself. The King’s army invested the city ;
but provisions and forage becoming scarce, and
the rains settmg in with great violence, it was
deemed advisable to raise the siege, and to march
to Guzerat, The King spent this season in
hunting, and after the rains, conferred the govern-
ment of Guzerat upon Zuffur Khan, and returned
to Tutta, Jam Bany, shortly after, submitted to
Feroze, who carried him and his principal chiefs to
Dehly, but after some time taking them into favour,
.he sent Jam Bany to resume his government.
In the year 774, the Vizier, Mullik
:" *;'_ Zg‘i‘” Mokbil, entitled Khan Jehan, diéd,
i and his son Joona Shah, succeeded to
_ +his office and titles., The following
vl fg;”& year was marked by the death of
Zuffur Khan, governor of Guzerat, who
was succeeded by his son Duria Khan. During
the next year, the King was plunged
o ;;% into affliction by the death of his fa-
vourite sou, Futteh Khan, a prince of
; i great promise. In the year 778, the
A. 1. T8, Y s - ik
4. b, 1376, Tevenue of Guzerat being greatly de-
ficient, the King was induced to listen
o the proposal of I\hwa.]a, Shums-cod-Deen

i Y 2
i ’

ey - - i a PSS,

torian, who has recd”.ef{z, *far the sake of adding to his glory,
and that the facts, so cont: '_”‘5,);. A sual practice of his

reign, never occurred. iy
GG %
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. dumghany, who oﬁered to. gwe 100 elephants,
40 lacks of rupees, 400 Abyssmmn slaves, and 40
- Arabian horses every year, over and above the
present payment, should he be appointed to
that government. The King replied, that if the
present viceroy, the successor of Zuffur Khan,
consented to give the same, he should be continued
in office; but this officer, not agreeing to the
proposal, 4 new commission was granted to Shums-
ood-Deen, who forthwith proceeded to Guzerat.
Being unable, however, to fulfil his promise, he
withheld s the revenue, and rebelled ; but the
people, whom he had greatly oppressed, conspired
against him, and, with the assistance of the Ameer
Judeeda settled in the province, cut him off; and
sent his head to Dehly. This is the only rebellion
which occurred during the reign of Feroze, ‘The
government of Guzerat was now conferred upon
Mullik Moofurra, entitled Furhut-ool-Moolk, and
vew governors wereappointed toall the frontier pro-
vinces. Mullik Shums-ood-Deen Sooliman, the
son of Mullik Murdan Dowlut, was nominated
governor of Kurra, Mahoba, and its vicinity ;
Hissam-ool-Moolk to Oude, Sumbhul, and Korla ;
Mullik  Behroze to Joonpoor and Zuffurabad.
Nuseer-ool-Moolk, the youngest son of Mullik
Murdan Dowlut, was made governor of Punjab,
and the country as far as Kabul. In the year
779, a trifling insurrection occurmﬂ.-

il ;g.?? among the zemindars of T e DUt it
was soon crushed, »ui“the msurgents

brought to pumshmnh‘ while forts.were built to

F

keep thern i catare subjection.  In the year
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. w81, Feroze marched towards Sumana,
. : i: ’173,}9 Ambala, and Shahabad, as far. as the
7 Afoot'of the mountains of Sahurunpoor ;
and after levying tribute from the rajas of the
Surmore hills, lie returned to his capital. _
~ About this time information was brought that
Kurgoo, the zemindar of Kutehr, had invited Syud
Mahomed, governor of Budaoon, with his brothers,
Syud Alla-ood-Deen, and Syud Mahomed, to his
house, and bagely assassinated. them.  Enraged at
this transaction, the King instantly marched and
took severe vengeance on the associates and kindred
of the zemindar, putting them to the sword, and
levelling their houses with | the ground., . The
murderer himself made his escape to the mountains
of Camaoon, and was protected by the rajas of
those parts. Feroze ordered a detachment of
his army against them, and nearly 23,000 of
those mountaineers were made prisoners and con-
demned to slavery. As be counld gain no inform-
ation of Kurgoo himself, the King appointed one
Mullik Dawood, an Afghan, with a body of troops,
to remain at Sumbhul, with orders to invade the
country of Kutehr every year, and not to allow it
to be inhabited until the murderer was given ups
The King himself also, under pretence of hunting,
marched annually in. that direction to see that
his orders were fulfilled, and for six years not an
~inhabitant was to be seen in that district, nor was
~ the laf.ayitivated,
A nir o Bgand infirmity began in the year
A, 0. 1885. 87 to make 1ud -wavages on the con-
stitution of the King, The povw«-¢ the Vizier,
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L Zuftur Khaﬂpjawv ( entltled Khan Jehan), became
V50 absolufe, that the King was guided by him in
every thing, till at length that minister had the
baseness falsely to accuse the Prince Mahomed
Khan, the King’s son, of a design against his
father’s life. = Among others said to be con-
cerned in the plot, was Zuffur Khan, the late
governor of Guezerat, and then governor of Ma-
hoba, as also Mullik Yakoot and Muallik Kumal.
ood-Deen. The King gave credit to the accusation,
and authorised the Vizier to secure the parties.
Zuffur Khan was accordingly recalled from his
government of Mahoba, and confined. The Prince
Mahomed Khan, obtaining intelligence of the
design against him, provided for hls security, by
fortifying his palace. In this situation he remained
shut up for some days, and at last, having ob-
tained  leave for his wife to wisit the King’s
ladies, he put on his armour, and getting into a
closed palankeen, was himself carried into the
seraglio. ~ On being discovered, the women,
alarmed, ran screaming into the Kiug’s apartment,
telling him that the Prince had come in armour
with treasonable designs.. The Prince following
“them, presented hinself' to his father, and falling
at his feet, told him, that the suspicions he had en-
tertained of him were worse than death itself'; that
he ecame, therefore, to receive his fate from the
King’s own hands; but he ﬁkc beggcd leave -
inform him, that he was p cfegt's siocent of
the Lhalge which the Vizies:8d purposely cons
trived, in order to.<%- 1S OWnN way to the throne.
Feroze -#4Mg in his son’s veracity, clasped
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o in hls ‘embrace, md weepmg, acknowh,dge
he had been deceived, and authorised him to act
as his judgment prompted against the traitor.
- On this the Prince, Mahomed Khan, leaving the
presence, ordered out twelve thousand horse, and
proceeded to surround the Vizier’s house.. On
hearing of' the Prince’s approach, the Vizier put
to death Zuffur Khan of Guzerat, one of the
persons whom he-had accused of treason, and
collecting his own friends engaged the Priuce in
the streets. The traitor was wounded, fled first
to his house, and thence escaped towards Mewat.
The Prince, in the mean time, secured all the
minister’s wealth, and cut off his adherents.
Immediately after these t.ransae_t‘i'c'ms-; Feroze
resigned the reing of government into the hauds
of his son, and abdicated the throne. 'The Prince,
assuming the name of Nasir-ood Deen Mahomed,
Shaban: ascended the throne in the month of
. . 189, Shaban, 789, and caused the Khootba to
August,  be read both in his own name as well ag
A2 A38Ts i that of his father. "Fhe fizst act of hiis
government was to form a new administration, and
to distribute honorary dresses among the chiefs.
Mullik Yakoolb Khan, the master of the horse, was
nominated to the charge of the government of’
Guzerat, Wlﬂl the title of Sikundur Khan. On
his route thither, Koka Chowhau, a Rajpoot ze-
Tiindar of Mewat with whom Khan Jehan the

Vizier had tatean refiige, fearing the King’s resent.
ment, seized and deliVe.. 1 i up aq W Pridones o
Sikundur Khan, who cut s SR g
to Dehly. Nasir-ood-Deen Mahomed Weny,, -q,

-



LA 1588.

FEROZE TOGHLUX:

his army, in the year 790, towards the
Avit 790. o suntaing of Sturmore, to hunt. . While
engaged in this diversion, advices wetre
received that Furhut-ool-Moolk, governor of Gu-
Jerat, in conjunction with the Ameer Judeeda
settled in that country, had risen in rebellion, and
had defeated and slain Sikundur Khan, who had
been lately appointed to succeed him. = On this in-
formation, the Prince hastened to Dehly; but, as
ifinfatuated, he gave himself up entirely to pleasure,
and seemed insensible of the loss he had sus-
tained, and of the dangers in which his conduct
had involved him. When.the officers of His court
attempted to rouse him from his lethargy, he
dismissed them from his presence, and filled their
places with parasifes and flagterers.  The nobles,
seeing affairs in this state, availed themselves of
the cireumstance to unite with the Princes Baha-
cod-Deeni and Kumal-ood-Deen, cousins of the
Prince Mahomed, for the purpose of subverting his
authority, and collected not less than 100,000
men.  Nasir-ood-Deen Mahomed employed Mullik
Zuheer-ood-Deen Lahory to treat with the insur-
gents, whose camp was formed without the city.
The mob, however, pelted him with stones, and
obliged him to retire, after being much bruised and
wounded., The Prince, seeing no hopes of an
amicable result, roused himself, and advanced with
hig army against the conspirators. After » hlouty
battle, he drove them into ghéi w3 "where they
secured the palace .o renewed the contest.
The, gisr " . o0 now a horrid scene of slaughter.

s e the space of two days-and nights, the
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dead were left lying in the streets; where friends
and foes, victors and vanquished, were jurabled
together without distinction. On the third day
the populace brought out the old King in his
palankeen, and placed him down in the street, be-
tween the combatants. The Prince Mahomed’s

A4 H, 790,

a.b 1385, concluding that his appearance was vo-

_ luntary, quitted the Prince, and crowded
around the old King with shouts of joy. 'The
Prince Mahomed thus deserted, fled ‘with a small
retinug to the mountains of Surmore.  All parties
now united, and tranquillity being restored, Feroze
again resumed his full authority. But feeling him.
self unequal to the task, on account of his age, he

once more resigned, and, at theinstance of the house. -

hold troops, placed his grandson Giheiag-ood-Deeny»
the son of his eldest son, Futteh Khan, upon the
throne. = The troops, in the mean time, put to
death Ameer Syud Hussun, the King’s son-in-law,
for supporting the fugitive Prince Nasir-ood-
Deen Mahomed, and the first orders issued by
Gheias-ood-Deen after his accession were to kill
all the adherents of his uncle Mahomed, wherever
they might be found.

Rumzan 5. Feroze, having now arrived at the age
“oit‘?'gg of 90, died on the third of Rumzan,
a.».1388. in the year 790.

Feroze Toghluk was a just and learned prince.
His soldiers and his subjects were equally happy
under his administration, nor did any one dare to
exercise oppression in his time. He was himself
the author of the F'uttoohat Feroze Shahy. He was

CL.

troops secing their former master, and
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N “=Hhe first of the Dehly kings who brought forward,
by his patronage, the race of Afghans, before whose
time they were not held in estimation.  He reigned
38 years over Hindocstan, and the words 3,6 ols,
“ Wufat Feroze,” ¢« The Death of Feroze,” com-
prise the numerical letters of the date of his de-
mise. Zeeaood-Deen Burny, who lived at his
court, has written the history of his reign in a work
entitled Towareekh Feroze Shahy. Nizam-ood-
Deen Ahmud Bukhshy observes in his history, that
Feroze introduced many excellent laws, which were

current in his time, . Among others, were the' three

following regulations : The first was the abolition
of the practice of mutilating criminals, a mode
of punishment which he would not allow to be in-
flicted on any of his subjeets, either Mahomedan or
Hindoo. The second regulation limited very much
the demand on cultivators, by which he iucreased
‘not only the population but eventually his revenue.
The third was the enconragement he gave to
learned men, whom he caused to reside in different
parts of the empire, for the sake of imparting in-
struction to the people. He caused his regulations
 tobe carved on the Musjid of Ferozabad, of which
7 7 %he following may be taken as asample: « It has
©  ~ #been usual in former times to spill Mahomedan
‘¢ blood on trivial occasions, and, for small crimes,
| “ to mutilate and torture them, by cutting off the
/ ¢ hands and feet, and noses and ears, by putting
*out eyes, by pulverising the boues of the living
¢ criminal with mallets, by buring the body with
“ fire, by crucifixion, and by nailing ‘the hands and
“ feet, by flaying alive, by the operation of ham-



